
The Village of Caledonia complies with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA). All meetings are wheelchair accessible.  
Contact the Village Clerk for special accommodations at 262-835-6414. 

 

 

 

PLAN COMMISSION AGENDA 
Monday, May 19, 2025 at 6:00 p.m. 

Caledonia Village Hall – 5043 Chester Lane 
Caledonia, WI 53402 

1. Meeting Called to Order 
2. Roll Call  
3. Approval of Minutes 

A. Meeting Minutes – April 28, 2025 
 

4. Public Comment: Provides citizens a two-minute opportunity to voice their opinions to the Plan Commission.  The 
Plan Commission is unable to respond as any discussion may conflict with open meeting requirements. Cc 
cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc 

5. New Business 
A. BUILDING, SITE, & OPERATION PLAN REVIEW – Review a building, site, and operation plan for the 

construction and utilization of a 6,713 square-foot industrial located on a parcel located directly north of 4005 Quick 
Drive submitted by Nathan Remitz, Applicant, RA Domanik Investments LLC, Owner. (Parcel ID No. 104-04-22-
27-018-070). More Information at Caledonia ZoningHub: https://s.zoninghub.com/YAE1UENIJ9   
 

B. BUILDING, SITE, & OPERATION PLAN REVIEW – Review a site plan for the expansion of a 
telecommunication tower and ground equipment with fencing for the property located at 6922 Nicholson Road 
submitted by Daniel Adams, Applicant, Village of Caledonia, Owner. (Parcel ID No. 104-04-22-16-004-000). More 
information at Caledonia Zoning Hub: https://s.zoninghub.com/RWKMTCK32I  

 
C. TEMPORARY USE REVIEW – Consider a request to utilize a 30’ x 60’ canopy tent and 8’ x 40’ cargo container 

for the sale of fireworks from June 19, 2025, through July 6, 2025 located in the Pick n’ Save parking lot located at 
5111 Douglas Avenue submitted by Dustin Hein, Applicant; Greentree Station LLC., Owner (Parcel ID No. 104-04-
23-20-103-110). More Information at Caledonia Zoning Hub: https://s.zoninghub.com/MS0BA7D136  

 
D. FINAL CONDOMINIUM PLAT REVIEW – Review a condominium subdivision plat creating 22 units for the 

parcel located at 7930 East Frontage Road submitted by Greg Thompson, Applicant, StorageShopUSA-Caledonia 
LLC, Owner. (Parcel ID No. 104-04-22-07-053-000). More Information at Caledonia Zoning Hub: 
https://s.zoninghub.com/ZPF6Z22E69  

 
E. PLAN COMMISSION POSITION ELECTION – Conduct nominations and elections for the positions of Plan 

Commission Vice-President and Secretary.  
 

6. Adjournment  
  
 Dated May 15, 2025  
 Jennifer Bass 
 Caledonia Village Clerk 
 
Only Commission members are expected to attend.  However, attendance by all Board members (including non-members of the Plan Commission) is permitted.  
If additional (non-commission) Board members attend, three or more Board members may be in attendance.  Section 19.82(2), Wisconsin Statutes, states as 
follows: If one-half or more of the members of a governmental body are present, the meeting is rebuttably presumed to be for the purposes of exercising the 
responsibilities, authority, power or duties delegated to or vested in the body. To the extent that three or more members of the Caledonia Village Board actually 
attend, this meeting may be rebuttably presumed to be a “meeting” within the meaning of Wisconsin’s open meeting law. Nevertheless, only the commission’s 
agenda will be discussed.  Only commission members will vote.  Board members who attend the commission meeting do so for the purpose of gathering 
information and possible discussion regarding the agenda.  No votes or other action will be taken by the Village Board at this meeting.  

https://s.zoninghub.com/YAE1UENIJ9
https://s.zoninghub.com/RWKMTCK32I
https://s.zoninghub.com/MS0BA7D136
https://s.zoninghub.com/ZPF6Z22E69


 Planning Commission Meeting 
Monday, April 28, 2025 

 

1 
 
 

 
 
1. Meeting called to order 

President Tom Weatherston called the meeting to order at 6:00 pm at the Village Hall, 
5043 Chester Lane Caledonia, WI.  

 
2. Roll Call/Introductions 

  
PRESENT:  6 – President Tom Weatherston, Trustee Nancy Pierce, Ami May, Vice President 

Joe Kiriaki, Jeff Hintz, and Michael Moore 
 

ABSENT:  1 - Ron Bocciardi  
 
STAFF:  Village Administrator Todd Willis, Development Director Peter Wagner, Public 

Services Director Anthony Bunkelman, Village Engineer Ryan Schmidt, Deputy 
Village Clerk Norgie Metzinger, and Village Clerk Jennifer Bass 

 
ALSO IN ATTENDENCE: Trustee Fran Martin 
 
3. Approval of Minutes 

Motion by Pierce to approve the minutes from March 31, 2025, seconded by Moore. 
Motion carried unanimously.  

 
4. Public Comment 

The following people appeared to speak before the Commission: 
1. Fran Martin, 56305 7 Mile Rd – Thanks to Commissioners Ron Bocciardi and Joe 

Kiriaki for their service. 
 

5. Public Hearing and Possible Action on Items Set for Public Hearing 
A. COMPREHENSIVE PLAN LAND USE MAP AMENDMENT REVIEW – Consider 

an amendment to the Village’s Land Use Plan Map as part of the Multi-Jurisdictions 
Comprehensive Plan for Racine County: 2035 for the parcel located on the southeast 
corner of 4 Mile Road and North Green Bay Road changing the land use category from 
Office Park to High Density Residential to accommodate the rezoning of the parcel for 
future multi-family development submitted by Nicklaus Jung, Applicant, Rita Lui & 
Carol Thelen, Owners. (Parcel ID No. 104-04-23-30-001-000) 
 

B. REZONE REVIEW – Review a request to rezone a ±17-acre parcel located on the 
southeast corner of 4 Mile Road and North Green Bay Road from R-4, Single-Family 
Residential District and M-1, Light Manufacturing District to Rm-1, Mult-Family 
Residential District for the future multi-family development submitted by Nicklaus Jung, 
Applicant, Rita Lui & Carol Thelen, Owners. (Parcel ID No. 104-04-23-30-001-000) 

 
Staff summarized the material provided in the packet. 
Public Hearing opened at 6:07 PM 

 



 Planning Commission Meeting 
Monday, April 28, 2025 

 

2 
 
 

President Weatherston asked three times if anyone wanted to speak for or against for 
either the land use amendment or rezone request. 

1. Jesse James, 7919 Hagemann Rd – Has questions about the location of certain 
items in the development (retention pond, garbage, etc.) 

2. Linda Meredith, 3012 4 Mile Rd – Does not want an apartment building next to 
her house. 

3. Larry Schuls, 4718 N Green Bay Rd – Concerns about traffic, and apartment 
complex being low-income. 

4. Susan Monahan, 4701 N Green Bay Rd – Concerns about additional traffic and 
people. Prefer houses to apartments. 

5. Dennis Maller, 4740 N Green Bay Rd – Speaking on behalf of four neighbors in 
addition to himself. Is supportive of the existing land use and zoning and against 
changing it. Concerned that high density housing would be detrimental to their 
property values. 

6. Jeff Longo, 3112 4 Mile Rd – Agreed with previous comments, concerned about 
traffic specifically. 

7. Mary Peters, 2812 Frontier Dr – Concerns about traffic increases. Would like to 
see higher-end retail shops instead. Also concerned that apartments will be low-
income. 

8. Alyssa Kroll, 3417 3 Mile Rd – Concerns about high-density development. 
Prefers more retail with green space. 

9. Fran Martin, 56305 7 Mile Rd – In favor of this development because of the need 
for residential development in TID 6, despite not being in favor of the TID itself.  

10. Adam Rogan, 4241 Coachlight Dr, written submission in support of the 
development. 

11. Peter Olesen, owner of O&H Bakery, 4917 Douglas Ave – written submission in 
support of the development. 

12. Jacob Haman, owner of Culvers, 4542 Douglas Ave – written submission in 
support of the development. 

13. Torben Christensen, owner of WI Products, Inc. – written submission in support 
of the development. 

14. Ryan Rakovich, 4736 N Green Bay Rd – Agrees with previous comments against 
the development. 

15. Kim Jentzen, 5321 4 Mile Rd – Agrees with previous comments against the 
development. 

16. Heather Doebereiner, 1815 Fireside Dr – Concerns about traffic and high-density 
housing. 

17. Dominic Longo, 3024 4 Mile Rd – Doesn’t want more people to live by his 
property. 

18. Laura Million, RCEDC – Commented that additional rooftops are needed if the 
village is to attract retail businesses, as well as local talent to support them.  

 
Public Hearing closed at 6:43 PM 

 



 Planning Commission Meeting 
Monday, April 28, 2025 

 

3 
 
 

Representative from the Developer F Street spoke about the development and answered 
questions from the Commission. It was clarified that a traffic study would be a 
requirement in the later stages of planning. 
Item 5A: Land Use Amendment 
Motion by Kiriaki to adopt Resolution 2025-02, which recommends to the Village 
Board an amendment to the 2035 Land Use Plan Map to change the land use category 
from Office Park to High Density Residential for the property located on the southeast 
corner of 4 Mile Road and N. Green Bay Road (Parcel ID No. 104-04-23-30-001-000), 
for the following reasons: 

1. This land use amendment is compatible with the land use classifications of 
abutting properties. 

2. This land use amendment is consistent with the goals and policies contained 
within the 2035 Comprehensive Plan. 

3. This Land Use Plan amendment will lay the foundation for rezoning of the subject 
property to the Rm-1, Multi Family Residential District for the future multi-
family residential development. 

Seconded by Pierce. Motion carried 6-0. 
 
Item 5B: Rezone 
Motion by Kiriaki to recommend to the Village Board that the property located on the 
southeast corner of 4 Mile Road and N. Green Bay Road (Parcel ID No. 104-04-23-30-
001-000) be rezoned from R-4, Single-Family Residential District and M-1, Light 
Manufacturing District, to Rm-1, Multi-Family Residential District for the following 
reason: 

1. The 2035 Land Use Plan designates this property as High Density Residential and 
the proposed rezoning is in accord with the 2035 Land Use Plan designation for 
the subject property. 

Seconded by Pierce. Motion carried 6-0. 
 
6. New Business 

A. CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP – Review a proposed certified survey map creating two 
lots from the ±17-acre parcel located on the southeast corner of 4 Mile Road and North 
Green Bay Road submitted by Nicklaus Jung, Applicant, Rita Lui & Carol Thelen, 
Owners. (Parcel ID No. 104-04-23-30-001-000) 

 
Motion by Moore to recommend that the Village Board approves the Certified 
Survey Map for Parcel ID 104-04-23-30-001-000 subject to the 14 conditions listed in 
Exhibit A of this report. 
Seconded by Pierce.  
Motion carried 6-0. 

 
B. CONDOMINIUM SUBDIVISION PLAT REVIEW – Review a condominium 

subdivision plat creating 22 units for the parcel located at 7930 East Frontage Road 
submitted by Greg Thompson, Applicant, StorageShopUSA-Caledonia LLC, 
Owner. (Parcel ID No. 104-04-22-07-053-000) 

 



 Planning Commission Meeting 
Monday, April 28, 2025 

 

4 
 
 

Motion by Kiriaki to recommend that the Village Board approve the following: 
1. Approves a Modification Waiver from Sec.14-3-4(c)(4)(b)(ii) of Municipal Code 

for the Concept Condominium Plat – StorageShopUSA to allow the Condominiums 
to develop with less than 40% Open Space within the Urban Service Area. 

2. Approves a Modification Waiver from Sec. 14-3-5(b) of Municipal Code for the 
Concept Condominium Plat – StorageShopUSA to allow the Condominiums to 
develop without Conservation Easements within the Urban Service Area. 

3. Approves the Net Density of the Proposed StorageShopUSA Condominium 
Development of 7.33 units per acre based on the limited information to date and 
subject to the 14 conditions listed in Exhibit A of this report. 

4. Approves a waiver to Title 14-3 authorizing staff to combine the Preliminary Condo 
Plat and Final Condo Plat process for this Commercial Condo Plat. 

Seconded by Pierce.  
Motion carried 6-0. 

 
7. Adjournment 
   
Meeting adjourned at 7:21 PM. 
 

Respectfully submitted,  
Jennifer Bass 
Village Clerk 



 

 
Meeting Date:   May 19, 2025     

 

PLAN COMMISSION REPORT 
 

Item No. 5A  

Proposal: Building, Site, & Operation Plan Review 

Description: Review of a request to approve a building, site, and operation plan for the 
construction and utilization of a ±6,713 square foot industrial building for the property 
located directly north of 4005 Quick Drive. 
 

Applicant(s): Nathan Remitz 

Address(es): Quick Drive 

Suggested 
Motion: 

That the Plan Commission recommends to the Village Board that the building, site, 
and operational plan for the construction of a ±6,713 square-foot industrial building 
located on the parcel directly north of 4005 Quick Drive be approved for the following 
reasons: 

1. The proposed use is allowed by underlying zoning and building, site, and 
operations plan review process. 

2. This use is consistent with the 2035 Comprehensive Land Use Plan 
designation of manufacturing. 
 

Owner(s): RA Domanik Investments LLC 

Tax Key(s): 104-04-22-27-018-070 

Lot Size(s): 1.092 acres 

Current Zoning 
District(s):  M-2, General Manufacturing 

 
  

    

Overlay District(s): N/A 
  

  
  

  
  

Wetlands:  Yes      No Floodplain:  Yes      No 

Comprehensive 
Plan: 

Industrial/Business Park 

 
 
Background: The applicant is requesting approval of a building, site, and operation plan to construct and 
utilize a ±6,713 square foot, multi-tenant, industrial building to operate a vehicle warehouse and jewelry 
distribution business located on the parcel directly north of 4005 Quick Drive.   
 
 



Caledonia Plan Commission Report Meeting Date: May 19, 2025 
 Item No.: 5a 

Page 2 of 3 
 

Building Exterior/Design 
The building will feature metal panel siding with a masonry base on all sides. The west elevation will be 
consist primarily of masonry. However, the design does not meet zoning requirements that mandate 75% 
of the visible building perimeter be clad in acceptable exterior materials—metal is not considered a 
qualifying material under code. A ¾ majority vote of the Plan Commission is required to approve the 
proposed metal exterior. 
 
Staff recommends using matching masonry on the east office portion to mirror the west side. Even with 
this enhancement, the building still falls short of the 75% masonry requirement. 
 
The north elevation includes one overhead door not facing a public road. Per design standards, loading 
areas, service entries, and mechanical equipment must be screened or attractively designed to minimize 
visual impact. Screening options include densely planted trees or shrubs, opaque fencing, and/or garden 
walls at least 7 feet tall (plant material must reach 7 feet within 2 years). Staff recommends additional 
screening be installed on the northwestern portion of the site to minimize visual impact of the overhead 
door.  
 
The building entrance faces Quick Drive and includes a canopy to provide a visual focal point. The 
proposed colors include light brown metal panels and neutral stone beltlines. 
 
Site Design 
The building meets all M-2 District setback and height requirements. A 20-foot drainage easement along 
the southern portion of the site restricts development and landscaping in that area. 
 
The site includes a paved asphalt parking lot with nine standard spaces and one ADA-compliant space, 
all meeting code for dimensions and setbacks. 
 
A dumpster is proposed on the north side of the building, enclosed with cedar planks. Staff recommends 
adding vegetative screening around the enclosure to reduce visual impact. 
 
Landscaping 
The landscaping plan meets Village requirements. With 160 feet of frontage along Quick Drive, four street 
trees are required and provided. 
 
To better screen the overhead door from Storage Drive, staff suggests additional plantings along the 
northwest lot line as stated earlier in this report.  
 
Landscaping consisting of various shrubs and plantings is shown on three sides of the building and 
complies with code. 
 
Lighting 
The applicant has submitted a photometric plan demonstrating that site lighting will comply with the 
Village’s lighting ordinance, ensuring no more than ½ foot-candle of light crosses the lot line. All light 
fixtures must comply with exterior lighting standards and be installed to prevent glare on neighboring 
properties. The use of Light Fixture B over the overhead door is not shielded. Staff recommends modifying 
the light fixture to include a shield to reduce glare and comply with code. 
 
Signs 
No signage is being proposed as part of this review. Any future signage requests will need to comply with 
Village Zoning Sign Code and be issued a sign permit prior to installation. 
 



Caledonia Plan Commission Report Meeting Date: May 19, 2025 
 Item No.: 5a 

Page 3 of 3 
 

 
Engineering/Fire Department 
Prior to any building permits being issued, the applicant will need to get approvals for stormwater 
management, erosion control, and grading plans from Water Utility Department and Engineering 
Department.  The Fire Department indicated no concerns regarding the proposed site plan; however, they 
will work with the applicant to ensure compliance with fire codes for this building type. 
 
Suggested Motion 
If the Plan Commission is comfortable with the proposed development, staff has drafted a suggested 
motion recommending approval of the ±6,713 square-foot industrial building for the property located 
directly north of 4005 Quick Drive. 
 
 
 
Respectfully submitted: 
 
 
 
Peter Wagner, AICP 
Development Director 

 
 
 
 

 
 



 

















































 

 
Meeting Date:   May 19, 2025     

 

PLAN COMMISSION REPORT 
 

Item No. 5B  

Proposal: Building, Site, and Operation Plan Review  

Description: Review a request to approve a site plan for the expansion of ground 
telecommunications equipment for the property located at 6922 Nicholson Road.  
 

Applicant(s): Daniel Adams 

Address(es): 6922 Nicholson Road 

Suggested 
Motions: 

That the Plan Commission recommends to the Village Board that the building, site, 
and operation plan for the expansion of ground telecommunications equipment 
located at 6922 Nicolson Road be approved for the following reason: 

1. The proposed use is allowed by underlying zoning through the building, site, 
and operation plan review process. 

 

Owner(s): Village of Caledonia 

Tax Key(s): 104-04-22-16-004-000 

Lot Size(s): 5.898 acres  

Current Zoning 
District(s):      P-1, Institutional Park District (Legacy District) 

 
 

   

Overlay 
District(s): 

n/a   
  

  
  

Wetlands:  Yes      No Floodplain:  Yes      No 

Comprehensive 
Plan: 

Governmental & Institutional 

 
Background: The applicant is requesting approval for the expansion of the telecommunications ground 
equipment area as it relates to the existing cell tower on the parcel located at 6922 Nicholson Road. The 
purpose of the expansion is to accommodate the updated Racine County telecommunications system. 
 
The use of the property for a cell tower and ground equipment was approved through a conditional use 
and site plan review many years ago. Anytime a nonresidential site is modified, a site plan review is 
required. The purpose of this review is to ensure zoning compliance as it relates to the location of the 
proposed additional ground equipment. The equipment site will be situated approximately 190 feet from 
the front lot line. The proposed 24’x40’ fenced in equipment site (960 square feet) complies with zoning 
regulations as it pertains to all setbacks. The expansion includes security fencing with a gate to provide 
access to the equipment. Chain link fencing is permitted for this type of use, however, the barbwire will 
have to be replaced with additional chain link fencing or other type of fencing material  



Caledonia Plan Commission Report Meeting Date: May 19, 2025 Item 
No.: 5b 

Page 2 of 2 

No landscape requirements apply to this type of use. Therefore, the applicant is not proposing any 
landscaping around the fenced area. However, this location did have vegetation around the ground 
equipment area. Staff recommends that the applicant includes vegetation around the expanded area 
similar to what was originally there. 

Exhibit A: 6922 Nicholson Road

 Source: Google Maps 

Staff recommends approval of the proposed building, site, and operation plan with the additional condition 
that the applicant plant vegetative screening on the east and south sides of the proposed expansion area. 

If the Plan Commission is comfortable with the proposed plan, staff drafted a suggested motion to 
recommend approval of the building, site, and operation plan for the parcel located at 6922 Nicholson 
Road.  

Respectfully submitted: 

Peter Wagner, AICP 
Development Director 





SCOPE OF WORK

NO
TE

: T
HE

 O
RI

GI
NA

L 
SI

ZE
 O

F 
TH

IS
 P

LA
N 

IS
 24

" X
 36

". 
 S

CA
LE

 R
AT

IO
 IS

 N
OT

 V
AL

ID
 F

OR
 R

ED
UC

ED
 O

R 
EN

LA
RG

ED
 S

HE
ET

 S
IZ

ES
NO

TE
: T

HE
 O

RI
GI

NA
L 

SI
ZE

 O
F 

TH
IS

 P
LA

N 
IS

 24
" X

 36
". 

 S
CA

LE
 R

AT
IO

 IS
 N

OT
 V

AL
ID

 F
OR

 R
ED

UC
ED

 O
R 

EN
LA

RG
ED

 S
HE

ET
 S

IZ
ES

SHEET TITLE:

T1

CALEDONIA POLICE
DEPARTMENT

SELF-SUPPORT TOWER
 6900 NICHOLSON RD
CALEDONIA, WI 53108

SHEET NAME:

ISSUE STATUS
A

DESCRIPTIONDATE BYREV.
11/19/24 MALEASE EXHIBIT

CLIENT:

427 BORDEN AVE
SYCAMORE IL 60178

PH: (815) 991 9560   FAX: 815 991 9468
MOBILE: 815 378 6118

A&E: TM

ELGIN, IL 60123

312.895.4977

300 AIRPORT ROAD, SUITE 1

www.sacw.com

MOTOROLA 

1301 E. ALGONQUIN RD
SCHAUMBURG, IL 60196

SOLUTIONS

NO
TE

: T
HE

 O
RI

GI
NA

L 
SI

ZE
 O

F 
TH

IS
 P

LA
N 

IS
 24

" X
 36

". 
 S

CA
LE

 R
AT

IO
 IS

 N
OT

 V
AL

ID
 F

OR
 R

ED
UC

ED
 O

R 
EN

LA
RG

ED
 S

HE
ET

 S
IZ

ES

04/22/25 NLLEASE EXHIBITB

TITLE SHEET

PROJECT INFORMATION

VICINITY MAP

LOCAL MAP

GENERAL CONTRACTOR NOTES PROJECT TEAM DRAWING INDEX:
TITLE SHEETT1

LE2

LE3

LE1 SITE PLAN

COMPOUND PLAN

DISCLAIMER

THESE DRAWINGS REPRESENT AN EXISTING TELECOMMUNICATIONS
COMPOUND AND WERE PRODUCED WITHOUT THE BENEFIT OF A LAND
SURVEY. ALL PROPERTY LINES, EASEMENTS, AND SETBACKS SHALL
BE VERIFIED PRIOR TO START OF CONSTRUCTION. SAC WIRELESS
DOES NOT GUARANTEE THE ACCURANCY OF SAID PROPERTY LINES,
EASEMENTS AND SETBACKS.

R

Call before you dig.
below.Know what's

TO OBTAIN LOCATION OF PARTICIPANTS
UNDERGROUND FACILITIES BEFORE
YOU DIG IN WISCONSIN, CALL LOCAL

STATE ONE CALL

TOLL FREE: 1-800-242-8511 OR
www.diggershotline.com

WISCONSIN STATUTE
REQUIRES MIN OF 2

WORKING DAYS NOTICE
BEFORE YOU EXCAVATE

INSTALLATION SERVICES INC.
CONTRACTOR/PROJECT MANAGER:
INSTALLATION SERVICES INC.
427 BORDEN AVENUE
SYCAMORE, IL 60178
CONTACT: JIM VOGEL
TELEPHONE: (815) 991-9560
FACSIMILE: (815) 991-9468
MOBILE: (815) 378-6118
EMAIL: JVOGEL@INSTALLATIONSERVICES.COM

ENGINEER
TIMOTHY DRUMM
SAC AE DESIGN GROUP, INC.
300 AIRPORT ROAD, SUITE 1
ELGIN, IL 60123
WWW.SACW.COM

MOTOROLA PROGRAM MANAGER:

DO NOT SCALE DRAWINGS IF NOT FULL-SIZE (24X36):
CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL PLANS AND EXISTING DIMENSIONS AND
CONDITIONS ON THE JOB SITE AND SHALL IMMEDIATELY NOTIFY THE
ARCHITECT IN WRITING OF ANY DISCREPANCIES BEFORE PROCEEDING
WITH THE WORK OR BE RESPONSIBLE FOR THE SAME.

SUBCONTRACTOR'S WORK SHALL COMPLY WITH ALL APPLICABLE
NATIONAL, STATE AND LOCAL CODES AS ADOPTED BY THE LOCAL CODES
AS ADOPTED BY THE LOCAL AUTHORITY HAVING (AHJ) FOR THE
LOCATION. THE EDITION OF THE AHJ ADOPTED CODES AND STANDARDS
IN EFFECT ON THE DATE OF CONTRACT AWARD SHALL GOVERN THE
DESIGN.

SUBCONTRACTOR'S WORK SHALL COMPLY WITH THE LATEST EDITION OF
THE FOLLOWING STANDARDS: AMERICAN CONCRETE INSTITUTED (ACI)
318, BUILDING CODE REQUIREMENTS FOR STRUCTURAL CONCRETE
AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF STEEL CONSTRUCTION (AISC), MANUAL OF
STEEL CONSTRUCTION, 13TH EDITION, TELECOMMUNICATIONS INDUSTRY
ASSOCIATION TIA 222-G, STRUCTURAL STANDARDS FOR STEEL ANTENNA
TOWER AND ANTENNA SUPPORTING STRUCTURES: TIA 607 AND COUNTY
STANDARDS WHERE MORE STRINGENT.

INSTITUTE FOR ELECTRICAL AND ELECTRONICS ENGINEERS (IEEE) 81,
GUIDE FOR MEASURING EARTH RESISTIVITY, GROUND IMPEDANCE, AND
EARTH SURFACE POTENTIALS OF A GROUND SYSTEM.

RECOGNIZING THE NEED FOR IMPROVEMENTS TO OCCUR, ALL
TELECOMMUNICATION IMPROVEMENTS SHALL BE PERFORMED IN A
NON-DESTRUCTIVE MANNER.

ALL OBSOLETE CABLES AND ELECTRICAL SHALL BE COMPLETELY
REMOVED, APPROPRIATE REPAIRS SHALL BE MADE TO MAKE THE
CONDITIONS SAFE AS APPROVED BY THE VILLAGE.

ALL IMPROVEMENTS SHALL BE COMPLETEED IN A WORKMANLIKE AND
CAREFUL MANNER AND WITHOUT INTERFERENCE OR DAMAGE TO ANY
OTHER EQUIPMENT, STRUCTURES, OR OPERATIONS ON THE PREMISES.

SITE ADDRESS:

COUNTY:
SITE NAME:

CENTER OF TOWER
LATITUDE:
LONGITUDE:

6900 NICHOLSON RD
CALEDONIA, WI 53108

RACINE
CALEDONIA POLICE DEPARTMENT

42°48'44.15" N
87°53'44.53" W

THIS IS NOT AN ALL INCLUSIVE LIST. CONTRACTOR SHALL UTILIZE SPECIFIED
EQUIPMENT PART OR ENGINEER APPROVED EQUIVALENT. CONTRACTOR SHALL
VERIFY ALL NEEDED EQUIPMENT TO PROVIDE A FUNCTIONAL SITE.
THE PROJECT GENERALLY CONSISTS OF THE FOLLOWING:

CODE COMPLIANCE

PROGRAM MANAGER

SITE NAME: CALEDONIA POLICE DEPARTMENT
SELF-SUPPORT TOWER

6900 NICHOLSON RD
CALEDONIA, WI 53108

LEASE EXHIBIT

· 2015 WISCONSIN BUILDING CODE (IBC)
· 2015 WISCONSIN MECHANICAL CODE (IMC)
· 2017 WISCONSIN ELECTRICAL CODE (NFPA 70)
· ANSI/TIA-222-G OR H STANDARD FOR ANTENNA SUPPORTING STRUCTURES
· NFPA 780-LIGHTNING PROTECTION CODE
· 2021  INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE (IBC)

TOWER ELEVATION

-INSTALL NEW GRAVEL COMPOUND EXPANSION AND WEED SHEETING
-INSTALL NEW 12'-0" WIDE GRAVEL ACCESS ROAD
-INSTALL NEW 24'-0" X 40'-0" CHAIN LINK FENCE WITH BARBED WIRE
-INSTALL NEW 12'-0" DOUBLE SWING GATE
-INSTALL NEW 12'-0" X 20'-0" EQUIPMENT SHELTER W/ GENERATOR IN
 GENERATOR ROOM
-INSTALL NEW ICE BRIDGE
-INSTALL (3) NEW OMNI ANTENNAS @ ELEVATION 140'-0"
(BOTTOM OF ANTENNA)
-INSTALL (1) NEW 6' MW DISH ANTENNA @ ELEVATION 165'-0" (CL)
-INSTALL (3) NEW SIDE ARMS (SITE PRO1 #PSA6)
-INSTALL (1) NEW CABLE LADDER
-INSTALL (1) NEW 1 5/8" CABLE LINE
-INSTALL (2) NEW 7/8" CABLE LINES
-INSTALL (1) NEW TTA WITH 1/2" CABLE LINE
-INSTALL (1) NEW CNT-400 CABLE FOR MW DISH
-INSTALL (1) NEW GPS ANTENNA MOUNTED ON ICE BRIDGE POST

JAMES WILLARD
SENIOR PROJECT MANAGER
SAC AE DESIGN GROUP, INC.
300 AIRPORT ROAD, SUITE 1
ELGIN, IL 60123
JAMES.WILLARD@SACW.COM

MOTOROLA SOLUTIONS, INC.
1301 E. ALGONQUIN ROAD
SCHAUMBURG, IL 60196
PM: MATT SUDDUTH
TEL: (317) 442-6680
EMAIL: msudduth@motorolasolutions.com



NO
TE

: T
HE

 O
RI

GI
NA

L 
SI

ZE
 O

F 
TH

IS
 P

LA
N 

IS
 24

" X
 36

". 
 S

CA
LE

 R
AT

IO
 IS

 N
OT

 V
AL

ID
 F

OR
 R

ED
UC

ED
 O

R 
EN

LA
RG

ED
 S

HE
ET

 S
IZ

ES
NO

TE
: T

HE
 O

RI
GI

NA
L 

SI
ZE

 O
F 

TH
IS

 P
LA

N 
IS

 24
" X

 36
". 

 S
CA

LE
 R

AT
IO

 IS
 N

OT
 V

AL
ID

 F
OR

 R
ED

UC
ED

 O
R 

EN
LA

RG
ED

 S
HE

ET
 S

IZ
ES

SHEET TITLE:

LE1

CALEDONIA POLICE
DEPARTMENT

SELF-SUPPORT TOWER
 6900 NICHOLSON RD
CALEDONIA, WI 53108

SHEET NAME:

ISSUE STATUS
A

DESCRIPTIONDATE BYREV.
11/19/24 MALEASE EXHIBIT

CLIENT:

427 BORDEN AVE
SYCAMORE IL 60178

PH: (815) 991 9560   FAX: 815 991 9468
MOBILE: 815 378 6118

A&E: TM

ELGIN, IL 60123

312.895.4977

300 AIRPORT ROAD, SUITE 1

www.sacw.com

MOTOROLA 

1301 E. ALGONQUIN RD
SCHAUMBURG, IL 60196

SOLUTIONS

NO
TE

: T
HE

 O
RI

GI
NA

L 
SI

ZE
 O

F 
TH

IS
 P

LA
N 

IS
 24

" X
 36

". 
 S

CA
LE

 R
AT

IO
 IS

 N
OT

 V
AL

ID
 F

OR
 R

ED
UC

ED
 O

R 
EN

LA
RG

ED
 S

HE
ET

 S
IZ

ES

04/22/25 NLLEASE EXHIBITB

SITE PLAN 11/64" = 1'-0" (11x17)

SCALE:

(OR)

1/32" = 1'-0" (24x36)0 10' 30'20'

SITE PLAN

NORTH

EXISTING
GRASS AREA

EXISTING
BUILDING

N
IC

H
O

LS
O

N
 R

DEXISTING TREE, TYP.

EXISTING
BUILDING

N
IC

H
O

LS
O

N
 R

D

EXISTING
GRASS AREA

EXISTING
BUILDING

EXISTING
BUILDING

EXISTING
BUILDING

EXISTING
BUILDING

EXISTING
BUILDING

EXISTING
BUILDING

1
LE3

1
LE3

EXISTING
PARKING

EXISTING
PARKING

EXISTING
PARKING

EXISTING
PARKING

EXISTING
GRASS AREA

EXISTING TREE, TYP.

EXISTING
PARKING

PROPOSED ANTENNAS ON EXISTING
SELF-SUPPORT TOWER

PORTION OF EXISTING LANDSCAPING
TO BE REMOVED

NEW COMPOUND EXPANSION WITH NEW
12'X 20' EQUIPMENT SHELTER, NEW ICE
BRIDGE, NEW CHAIN LINK FENCE W/
BARBED WIRE

1
LE2

NEW 12' WIDE GRAVEL ACCESS ROAD



NO
TE

: T
HE

 O
RI

GI
NA

L 
SI

ZE
 O

F 
TH

IS
 P

LA
N 

IS
 24

" X
 36

". 
 S

CA
LE

 R
AT

IO
 IS

 N
OT

 V
AL

ID
 F

OR
 R

ED
UC

ED
 O

R 
EN

LA
RG

ED
 S

HE
ET

 S
IZ

ES
NO

TE
: T

HE
 O

RI
GI

NA
L 

SI
ZE

 O
F 

TH
IS

 P
LA

N 
IS

 24
" X

 36
". 

 S
CA

LE
 R

AT
IO

 IS
 N

OT
 V

AL
ID

 F
OR

 R
ED

UC
ED

 O
R 

EN
LA

RG
ED

 S
HE

ET
 S

IZ
ES

SHEET TITLE:

LE2

CALEDONIA POLICE
DEPARTMENT

SELF-SUPPORT TOWER
 6900 NICHOLSON RD
CALEDONIA, WI 53108

SHEET NAME:

ISSUE STATUS
A

DESCRIPTIONDATE BYREV.
11/19/24 MALEASE EXHIBIT

CLIENT:

427 BORDEN AVE
SYCAMORE IL 60178

PH: (815) 991 9560   FAX: 815 991 9468
MOBILE: 815 378 6118

A&E: TM

ELGIN, IL 60123

312.895.4977

300 AIRPORT ROAD, SUITE 1

www.sacw.com

MOTOROLA 

1301 E. ALGONQUIN RD
SCHAUMBURG, IL 60196

SOLUTIONS

NO
TE

: T
HE

 O
RI

GI
NA

L 
SI

ZE
 O

F 
TH

IS
 P

LA
N 

IS
 24

" X
 36

". 
 S

CA
LE

 R
AT

IO
 IS

 N
OT

 V
AL

ID
 F

OR
 R

ED
UC

ED
 O

R 
EN

LA
RG

ED
 S

HE
ET

 S
IZ

ES

04/22/25 NLLEASE EXHIBITB

COMPOUND PLAN 13/32" = 1'-0" (11x17)

SCALE:

(OR)

3/16" = 1'-0" (24x36)0 1.5' 3' 5'

NORTH

COMPOUND PLAN

EXISTING
GENERATOR
ON
CONCRETE
PAD

EXISTING
GRASS AREAEXISTING

GRASS AREA

EXISTING TREE,
TYP.

EXISTING
PARKING

EXISTING ICE BRIDGE,
(TYP.)

EXISTING 12'-0" x 33'-0"
EQUIPMENT SHELTER

EXISTING
FIBER

EXISTING UTILITY H-FRAME

EXISTING
PURCELL CABINET

EXISTING
SELF-SUPPORT
TOWER

PROPOSED COMMSCOPE MW
DISH ANTENNA, (1) TOTAL

PROPOSED DB SPECTRA
OMNI ANTENNAS,
(3) TOTAL WITH MOUNTS

EXISTING CHAIN LINK
FENCE W/BARBED WIRE

EXISTING CHAIN LINK
FENCE W/BARBED WIRE

EXISTING CHAIN LINK
FENCE W/BARBED WIRE

EXISTING 12'x0" WIDE
ACCESS GATE

NEW
EQUIPMENT

AREA

NEW
GENERATOR

AREA

NEW 12'-0" x 20'-0"
EQUIPMENT SHELTER
W/ GENERATOR ROOM

NEW 12'-0" WIDE DOUBLE
SWING ACCESS GATES

NEW 24'-0" X 40'-0"
CHAIN LINK FENCE W/
BARBED WIRE

NEW ICE
BRIDGE

NEW COMPOUND GRAVEL
AND WEED SHEETING

NEW GPS
ANTENNA

PORTION OF EXISTING
LANDSCAPING TO BE
REMOVED

NEW 12' WIDE GRAVEL
ACCESS ROAD

EXISTING GPS, (TYP.)

40'-0"

24
'-0

"

6'-0"

6'
-0

"

24'-0"

53
'-0

"

12'-0"



X X XX X XX X XX X X XX X X XX X X X

TOP OF EXISTING SELF-SUPPORT TOWER
ELEV. TBD

NO
TE

: T
HE

 O
RI

GI
NA

L 
SI

ZE
 O

F 
TH

IS
 P

LA
N 

IS
 24

" X
 36

". 
 S

CA
LE

 R
AT

IO
 IS

 N
OT

 V
AL

ID
 F

OR
 R

ED
UC

ED
 O

R 
EN

LA
RG

ED
 S

HE
ET

 S
IZ

ES
NO

TE
: T

HE
 O

RI
GI

NA
L 

SI
ZE

 O
F 

TH
IS

 P
LA

N 
IS

 24
" X

 36
". 

 S
CA

LE
 R

AT
IO

 IS
 N

OT
 V

AL
ID

 F
OR

 R
ED

UC
ED

 O
R 

EN
LA

RG
ED

 S
HE

ET
 S

IZ
ES

SHEET TITLE:

LE3

CALEDONIA POLICE
DEPARTMENT

SELF-SUPPORT TOWER
 6900 NICHOLSON RD
CALEDONIA, WI 53108

SHEET NAME:

ISSUE STATUS
A

DESCRIPTIONDATE BYREV.
11/19/24 MALEASE EXHIBIT

CLIENT:

427 BORDEN AVE
SYCAMORE IL 60178

PH: (815) 991 9560   FAX: 815 991 9468
MOBILE: 815 378 6118

A&E: TM

ELGIN, IL 60123

312.895.4977

300 AIRPORT ROAD, SUITE 1

www.sacw.com

MOTOROLA 

1301 E. ALGONQUIN RD
SCHAUMBURG, IL 60196

SOLUTIONS

NO
TE

: T
HE

 O
RI

GI
NA

L 
SI

ZE
 O

F 
TH

IS
 P

LA
N 

IS
 24

" X
 36

". 
 S

CA
LE

 R
AT

IO
 IS

 N
OT

 V
AL

ID
 F

OR
 R

ED
UC

ED
 O

R 
EN

LA
RG

ED
 S

HE
ET

 S
IZ

ES

04/22/25 NLLEASE EXHIBITB

TOWER ELEVATION 11/32" = 1'-0" (11x17)

SCALE:

(OR)

1/16" = 1'-0" (24x36)0 4' 8' 16'

TOWER ELEVATION

RAD CENTER OF NEW COMMSCOPE HX6-6W MW DISH ANTENNA
ELEV. 165'-0"

PROPOSED COMMSCOPE MW
DISH ANTENNA, (1) TOTAL

PROPOSED DB SPECTRA OMNI ANTENNAS,
(3) TOTAL

BOTTOM OF NEW DB SPECTRA DS7LM14PHU-D OMNI ANTENNAS
 ELEV. 140'-0"

GRADE (REF)
ELEV. 0'-0" AGL

EXISTING GENERATOR
ON CONCRETE PAD EXISTING 12'-0" x 33'-0"

EQUIPMENT SHELTER

EXISTING UTILITY H-FRAME

EXISTING SELF-SUPPORT TOWER

EXISTING GPS, (TYP.)

EXISTING CHAIN LINK
FENCE W/BARBED WIRE

NEW ANTENNA AND MICROWAVE MODELS TO BE
CONFIRMED AND FINAL HEIGHTS SHOWN IN FINAL CDS

NEW 12'-0" X 20'-0"
EQUIPMENT SHELTER W/
GENERATOR ROOM

NEW CHAIN LINK FENCE W/
BARBED WIRE

NEW (3) 6'-0" SIDE ARM
(SITE PRO1 #PSA6)

NEW (1) 1-5/8" COAX CABLES,
(2) 7/8" COAX CABLE AND
(1) 1/2" COAX CABLE
(1) CNT-400 CABLE



 

 
Meeting Date:   May 19, 2025     

 

PLAN COMMISSION REPORT 
 

Item No. 5C 

Proposal: Temporary Use  

Description: Review of a request to utilize a 30’ x 60’ canopy tent and 8’ x 40’ shipping container 
for storage and sales of fireworks from June 19, 2025 through July 6, 2025 located 
at 5111 Douglas Avenue. 
 

Applicant(s): Dustin Hein 

Address(es): 5111 Douglas Avenue  

Suggested 
Motion: 

That the Plan Commission recommends that the Village Board approve a temporary 
use with conditions listed in Exhibit A, for fireworks sales in a 30’ x 60’ canopy tent 
and the storage or fireworks in an 8’ x 40’ shipping container located on the property, 
as illustrated on the submitted site plan, at 5111 Douglas Avenue for the following 
reasons: 
 

1. The temporary use is allowed by underlying zoning. 
2. The proposed temporary use is absent of detriment to the uses in the zoning 

district. 
 

Owner(s): Greentree Station LLC 

Tax Key(s): 104-04-23-20-103-110 

Lot Size(s): 7.08 acres 

Current Zoning 
District(s):  B-3, Highway Business   

    

Overlay District(s): N/A 
  

  
  

  
  

Wetlands:  Yes      No Floodplain:  Yes      No 

Comprehensive 
Plan: 

Commercial 

 
 
Background: The applicant is requesting approval for the temporary operation of fireworks sales in a 
30’ x 60’ canopy tent on the property located at 5111 Douglas Avenue. When not operating, the product 
will be securely stored on site in an 8’ x 40’ shipping container. The location of the tent and shipping 
container is illustrated on the submitted site plan included with this report.  
 



Caledonia Plan Commission Report Meeting Date: May 19, 2025 
 Item No.: 5c 

Page 2 of 3 
 

Staff has reviewed and determined that the proposed temporary use is allowed by the underlying zoning 
and complies with zoning requirements. Approval is recommended subject to the following proposed 
conditions: 
 

EXHIBIT A: Temporary Use Conditions of Approval 5111 Douglas Avenue 

1. Compliance. Failure to comply with the terms and conditions stated herein could result in the 
issuance of citation(s) and/or revocation of this permit. 

2. Plans. The proposed 30’ x 60’ temporary canopy tent, 8’x40’ shipping container, and parking area 
must be located and utilized in accordance with the plan and documents received by the Village 
Planning Department. All areas disturbed by the canopy tent and shipping container must be 
restored to their condition before the temporary use.  

3. Performance Standards. The applicant must comply with the provisions of Sec. 16-10-5 Other 
Temporary and Accessory Use Restrictions, Village of Caledonia Code of Ordinances.  

4. Duration of Temporary Use. This temporary fireworks sales activity may be conducted from 
June 19, 2025 through July 6, 2025. The tent, shipping container, and all associated fireworks 
must be removed from the subject site within 10 working days after July 6, 2025.  

5. Hours of Operation. Firework sales are limited to 9am - 9pm, seven days a week. 

6. Compliance with Law. The applicant must obtain all necessary approvals and licenses from the 
Village of Caledonia. The applicant must also obtain all necessary federal, state, and local 
permits, approvals, and licenses, and they must comply with all applicable codes and regulations.  

7. No on-site demonstrations of fireworks are permitted. No on-site demonstrations of fireworks 
are permitted.  

8. Fire Department Approval. The applicant must contact the Village of Caledonia Fire Department 
for review and approval prior to occupying the site with the proposed temporary use. The 
Caledonia Fire Chief is requiring that there are “No Smoking” signs posted in the tent and on the 
storage container, a fire extinguisher is hung in the tent and readily accessible to customers and 
attendants, the storage container remains locked at all times and unlocked only to move product 
in and out of storage for sale, and a tent/site inspection is conducted by the Caledonia Fire 
Department prior to the stand opening for business. 

9. Parking. All parking for this operation must be on-site as illustrated on the submitted plan. 

10. Village of Caledonia Accepts No Liability. The Village of Caledonia accepts no liability through 
the issuance of this temporary approval for this site, or any proposed operations or fireworks 
sales. 

11. Signage. All signage will require a permit and must be in compliance with Sec. 16-11-6 
Temporary Sign Regulations. No signs are allowed in the right-of-way.  

12. Access. The applicant must allow any Village employee full and unlimited access to the project 
site at a reasonable time to investigate the project's implementation, operation, or maintenance. 

13. Amendments to Temporary Use Permit. No additions, deletions, or changes may be made to 
the project, site plan, or these conditions without the Village of Caledonia’s prior approval. All 
addition, deletion, and/or change requests must be submitted to the Village of Caledonia in 
writing. A minor change to the conditions of this permit, as deemed by the Zoning Administrator, 
may be made at a staff level, if authorized by the Zoning Administrator. 



Caledonia Plan Commission Report Meeting Date: May 19, 2025 
 Item No.: 5c 

Page 3 of 3 
 

14. Certificate of Insurance. The applicant must provide a certificate of insurance indicating that the 
Village of Caledonia is named as an additional insured by specific endorsement. 

15. Agreement. Your accepting of the temporary use approval and beginning the temporary use 
means that you have read, understand, and agree to follow all conditions of this approval. 
Therefore, Pyro Paradise Fireworks, Jacob Zamora and their heirs, successors, and assigns are 
responsible for full compliance with the above conditions. 

 
 
 

 
 
Respectfully submitted by: 
 
 
 
Peter Wagner, AICP 
Development Director 
 

  

 
 



 



Freedom Fireworks LLC 
1442 East Geneva Street 

Delavan, WI 53115 
freedomfireworksnow@gmail.com 

262-457-1776

FIREWORKS STAND SITE NARRATIVE 

● PLEASE SEE ATTACHED SITE AERIAL.

● SALES WOULD START THURSDAY, JUNE 19TH AND CONTINUE
THROUGH SUNDAY, JULY 6TH, 2025.

● SALES WOULD BE FROM A 30’X60’ TENT RENTED FROM
LOCAL TENT RENTAL COMPANY. TENT WILL BE SETUP THE
WEEK OF JUNE 16TH.

● PARKING BARRIER WILL BE IN PLACE WITH NO PARKING
SIGNS & ARROWS TO DIRECT TRAFFIC. TENT WILL BE 15’
FROM THE PARKING STALLS.

● ONE(1) 40’ METAL SHIPPING CONTAINER WOULD BE USED
FOR STORAGE. CONTAINER DOORS WILL BE CLOSED AND
LOCKED WHEN NOT IN USE. CONTAINER WILL BE DROPPED
NO EARLIER THAN JUNE 12TH.

● CONTAINER WILL BE ALSO USED AS A TRAFFIC BARRIER. NO
PARKING WILL BE ALLOWED WITHIN 10’ OF THE CONTAINER.

● CONTAINER WILL BE 10’ FROM THE SALES TENT.

● TWO(2) EMPLOYEES WILL BE SCHEDULED DAILY,
WITH TWO(2) EMPLOYEE VEHICLES PARKED DAILY.

● HOURS OF OPERATION WILL BE 9AM-9PM.



● CUSTOMERS MUST BE 18 YEARS OF AGE TO PURCHASE 
FIREWORKS. 
 

● TYPES OF PRODUCTS SOLD WILL BE 1.4G CONSUMER 
FIREWORKS AND 4TH OF JULY NOVELTIES.  
 

● FIREWORKS WILL BE SOLD IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
WISCONSIN STATE STATUTE 167.10. & THE VILLAGE OF 
CALEDONIA CHAPTER 6, SECTION 7-6-1 REGULATION OF 
FIREWORKS. 
 

● PREMISES LIABILITY INSURANCE IN THE AMOUNT OF 
$2,000,000 WILL BE OBTAINED PRIOR TO JUNE 1ST.    
 

● ONE(1) PORTABLE RESTROOM WILL BE MADE AVAILABLE 
FOR THE CUSTOMERS AND EMPLOYEES.  
 

● PROPERTY WILL BE POLICED DAILY FOR WIND BLOWN 
TRASH AND DEBRIS. 
 

● AREA WILL BE KEPT CLEAN AND ORGANIZED WITH A 
PATRIOTIC THEME. 
 

● SHELVING AND PRODUCTS WILL BE NO MORE THAN 60” IN 
HEIGHT TO ALLOW FOR CLEAR VISIBILITY OF EXIT SIGNS AND 
FIRE EXTINGUISHERS. ALL AISLE WILL BE 48” WIDE OR 
GREATER. 
 

● THREE(3) FIRE EXTINGUISHERS WILL BE PLACED 
THROUGHOUT THE SALE TENTS. ALL EXTINGUISHERS WILL 
BE WITHIN 30’ FROM EACH OTHER, CLEARLY MARKED AND 
VISIBLE TO THE PUBLIC. ONE(1) EXTINGUISHER WILL BE 
PLACED AT THE ENTRANCE TO THE STORAGE CONTAINER. 
 

● NO SMOKING SIGNS WITH 4” LETTERS WILL BE CLEARLY 
VISIBLE TO THE PUBLIC AND NO SMOKING WILL BE ALLOWED 
WITHIN 50’ OF THE SALES TENT. 



TENT

40' CONTAINER

-60'-

30'- -240'-

90'-

55'-

P

P

N

P  = PARKING    1" = 50'

PARKING
BARRIER

P



40' CONTAINER

TENT

NO
PARKING

P
P

P

CART
CORRAL

15'-

30'-

-60'-

-10'-

55'-

-8'-

PARKING 
BARRIER

PARKING
BARRIER

N

P  = PARKING    1' = 30' 

GREEN
SPACE

PORTABLE--



SIGN SITE MAP

4' X 8' 
SIGNS



-8'-

4'



P a g e  1 | 3 
P:\ENGINEER\Memos\2025\PC- FinalPlat StorageShopUSA.docx 

MEMORANDUM 
 

Date:  May 13, 2025  
 
To:  Plan Commission 

Village Board 
 
From:  Ryan Schmidt, P.E. 
  Village Engineer 
 
Re: Final Condominium Plat – Storage Shop USA – 7930 E. Frontage Road 

Parcel ID 104-04-22-07-053-000 
Applicant & Owner – Greg Thomas – Storage Shop USA 
 

Recommended Motions: 
1. That the Plan Commission recommends to the Village Board to approve the Final 

Condominium Plat subject to the 5 conditions listed in the Village Engineer’s 
Memorandum. 

______________________________________________________________________________ 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION  
Storage Shop USA has submitted a Final Condominium Plat to the Planning & Engineering 
Department for a 22 Unit commercial condominium. The property is located at 7930 E. 
Frontage Road and the project includes 11 duplex buildings with twenty-two (22) 1,250 
square-foot condominium units used for commercial business spaces. To create individual 
Parcel ID’s for the units and meet the intended business model for the development, a 
Condominium Plat is required.  
 
The property has been approved for a Zoning District Amendment via Ordinance 2024-10 to 
rezone the property from A-2 to B-3 Highway Business District. The property has had a Site, 
Building, and Operation Plan approved via Resolution 2024-089 and Private On-site 
Improvement Plans and a Storm Water Management Plan for the Development have been 
approved on 4-16-2025 and 4-7-2025 respectively.  The Concept Condo Plat was approved 
by Plan Commission on April 28th and by the Village Board on May 13th, 2025 via Resolution 
2025-036 with a net density, waivers to open space and conservation easements, and a 
waiver allowing staff to combine the Preliminary and Final Condo Plat Review process per 
Title 14.  
 
ZONING 
The property, as described above, has been rezoned to meet Village Standards and has also 
acquired the BSO approvals necessary to develop.  Declaration documents have been 
submitted for the condominium. These are going to be reviewed and approved by the Village 
prior to the recording of the Final Plat. 
   
 



P a g e  2 | 3 
P:\ENGINEER\Memos\2025\PC- FinalPlat StorageShopUSA.docx 

ENGINEERING & UTILITY DISTRICT 
The property is located within the Urban Service Area but does not have Sewer or Water 
available at this time. The property will need to execute a Declaration of Restrictive 
Covenants document requiring that when municipal Sanitary Sewer and Water are 
available, that the property be connected and on-site improvements are updated to meet 
WDNR and Caledonia Utility District Standards. This document will need to be reviewed and 
approved by the Village Attorney and Public Services Director prior to recording.  
 
A letter has been provided from the DOT dated July 3, 2014 provides evidence that Trans233 
of the Wisconsin State Statutes does not enforce condominium plats.  This information 
presented in the letter appears to still be in effect.  In addition, an environmental site 
assessment package has been provided by the developer highlighting the condition of the 
property and lack of wetlands. The Plat has been resubmitted with updated information 
showing the necessary access restrictions, vision triangles, and updated legal descriptions 
as requested.  
 
Final Owner’s and Village of Caledonia Village Board Certificate locations shall be provided 
on the Final Plat for recording purposes. Any other signatures shall be included as required 
by Chapter 703 for the Final Plat. All signatures shall be acquired prior to the Village of 
Caledonia signature, which shall be last prior to recording with Racine County. Floor Plans 
may be required by Wis. Stat 703.11 (2)(d) and included on the Final Plat for recording. 
 

  



P a g e  3 | 3 
P:\ENGINEER\Memos\2025\PC- FinalPlat StorageShopUSA.docx 

Exhibit A 
Conditions of approval for the proposed Final Condominium Plat: 
 
1. Owner/Developer shall sign and execute the Declaration of Restrictive Covenants 

requiring the need to connect to Municipal Sewer and Water once available.  
2. Owner/Developer to execute and record the Village approved revision of the 

declaration documents for the condominium in conjunction with the recording of the 
Final Plat. 

3. Owner/Developer to execute the Storm Water Easement Agreements with the Village 
for the Storm Water Management Facilities on-site. 

4. Certificate and Signature Page is included for the Owner, Village Board, and any others 
as required in addition to including floor plans per Chapter 703. 

5. The Final Condominium Plat must conform to all Ordinances in Title 9, 14, and 18 of 
Municipal Code, Trans233, and Chapter 703 of Wis. Stats.  



♦ 
VILLAGE OF 

CALEDONIA 

1, � 

� 

(i 

1

1 

I :' 
. I 
I I Ii 

I 

I 

N 

7930 E. FRONTAGE ROAD 
0 125 250 500 

US Feet A 



30.55'
30.63' 30.67' 30.69'

40.50'

43.18'

86.94'86.81'

82.55'

40.50'

40.50'

44.74'

55.25'

75.4'

75.37'10.5'10.5'

66.0'
66.0'

10.5' 10.5'

10.5'

20.5'

10.5'

10.5'

82.67'

I, ZACHARY M REYNOLDS, WISCONSIN PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR
S-3223, DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT I HAVE SURVEYED THE ABOVE
DESCRIBED PROPERTY AND THAT THIS SURVEY AND PLAT IS CORRECT
TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE AND BELIEF WITH THE INFORMATION
PROVIDED, BY THE ORDER OF THOSE LISTED HEREON, AND IS AN
ACCURATE REPRESENTATION OF THE EXTERIOR BOUNDARY LINES,
EXISTING IMPROVEMENTS, AND THOSE TO BE CONSTRUCTED UPON THE
PROPERTY FROM THE INFORMATION PROVIDED, AND THAT THIS SURVEY
COMPLIES WITH AE-7 OF THE WISCONSIN ADMINISTRATIVE CODE.

FURTHERMORE, IN COMPLIANCE WITH CHAPTER 703.11 WISCONSIN
STATUTES, THE CONDOMINIUM PLAT SHOWN HEREON IS A CORRECT
REPRESENTATION OF "STORAGESHOPUSA - CALEDONIA" AS PROPOSED
AT THE DATE HEREOF, AND THE IDENTIFICATION AND LOCATION OF
EACH UNIT, COMMON ELEMENTS, AND LIMITED COMMON ELEMENTS
CAN BE DETERMINED FROM THE PLAT.  THE UNDERSIGNED SURVEYOR
MAKES NO CERTIFICATION AS TO THE ACCURACY OF THE CONDOMINIUM
BUILDINGS AND UNITS CONTAINED IN THE PLAT AND THE APPROXIMATE
DIMENSIONS AND FLOOR AREAS THEREOF.

               .
ZACHARY M REYNOLDS, S-3223 DATE
WISCONSIN PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR

PARCEL:
UNPLATTED LANDS, BEING A PART OF THE NORTHWEST 1/4 OF THE FRACTIONAL
NORTHWEST 1/4 OF SECTION 7, TOWNSHIP 4 NORTH, RANGE 22 EAST, IN THE VILLAGE OF
CALEDONIA, COUNTY OF RACINE, STATE OF WISCONSIN, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED
AS FOLLOWS:  COMMENCING AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 7; THENCE,
ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER, SOUTH 89° 17' 13" EAST, 1002.54
FEET; THENCE, SOUTH 01° 21' 04" WEST, 67.26 FEET, TO A POINT ON THE WEST
RIGHT-OF-WAY OF HAGEMANN ROAD, AND THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE, CONTINUING
ALONG SAID WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY, SOUTH 01° 21' 04" WEST, 412.66 FEET; THENCE, NORTH
89° 07' 47" WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 399.77 FEET, TO A POINT ON THE EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY
OF EAST FRONTAGE ROAD; THENCE, ALONG SAID EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY,  NORTH 13° 05' 07"
EAST, 106.88 FEET; THENCE, CONTINUING ALONG SAID RIGHT-OF-WAY, NORTH 00° 50' 32"
EAST, 174.58 FEET; THENCE, SOUTH 89° 12' 24" EAST, 194.46 FEET; THENCE, NORTH 00° 14'
16" EAST, 140.09 FEET TO A POINT ON THE SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY OF 7 MILE ROAD; THENCE,
ALONG SAID RIGHT-OF-WAY, SOUTH 89° 17' 13" EAST, 178.62 FEET; THENCE, CONTINUING
ALONG SAID RIGHT-OF-WAY, SOUTH 50° 52' 07" EAST, 11.68 FEET, BACK TO THE POINT OF
BEGINNING. CONTAINS 132,970 SQUARE FEET OR 3.05 ACRES.

NOTES

LEGAL DESCRIPTION, AS SURVEYED

SURVEYORS CERTIFICATE

A CONDOMINIUM PLAT

OFFICE OF THE REGISTER OF DEEDS

________________________ COUNTY, WISCONSIN

RECEIVED FOR RECORD _____________________

20_____ AT _____________ O'CLOCK ______M AS

DOCUMENT NO. ____________________________

IN VOLUME ______________ OF CONDOMINIUM

PLATS  ON PAGE(S) _________________________

_____________________________________________
  KARIE L. POPE, REGISTER OF DEEDS
THERE ARE NO OBJECTIONS TO THIS CONDOMINIUM
PLAT WITH RESPECT TO CHAPTER 703 WISCONSIN
STATUTES AND IS HEREBY APPROVED FOR
RECORDING.

DATED THIS _____ DAY  OF __________________, 20_____

____________________________________________________
RACINE COUNTY PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT

STORAGESHOPUSA - CALEDONIA

LEGEND 

RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE

PLATTED LINE
PROPERTY LINE 

PREPARED FOR:

PREPARED BY:

WYSER ENGINEERING
300 EAST FRONT STREET
MOUNT HOREB, WI 53572
www.wyserengineering.com

SURVEYED BY:
DRAWN BY:
APPROVED BY:

DZ/ML

ZMR
AJL

STORAGESHOPUSA -
CALEDONIA LLC
6810 CROSS COUNTRY
ROAD
VERONA, WI 53593

SHEET 1 OF 1 SHEET 

FOUND 3/4" REBAR

 A TRACT OF LAND AS DESCRIBED IN A TRUSTEE'S DEED, RECORDED ON DECEMBER 16,
2024 AS DOCUMENT NO. 2691446, LOCATED IN PART OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF

THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 7, TOWN 4 NORTH, RANGE 22 EAST, IN THE
VILLAGE OF CALEDONIA, RACINE COUNTY, WISCONSIN.

1. FIELD WORK PERFORMED BY WYSER ENGINEERING, LLC ON THE
WEEK OF JUNE 3 AND OCTOBER 30, 2024.

2. NORTH REFERENCE FOR THIS PLAT ARE BASED ON THE
WISCONSIN COORDINATE REFRENCE SYSTEM, NAD 83 (2011)
WISCRS-RACINE, GRID NORTH.
THE NORTH LINE OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 7,
T4N, R22E, BEARS S 89° 17' 13" E.

3. BUILDING PLANS & DIMENSIONS ARE BASED UPON DRAWINGS
PROVIDED BY THE OWNER AND DO NOT REPRESENT AS-BUILT
CONDITIONS.

4. ALL IMPROVEMENTS DEPICTED WITHIN THE CONDOMINIUM
LIMITS ARE PROPOSED.

5. UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED, ALL AREAS OUTSIDE OF THE UNIT
BOUNDARIES ARE COMMON ELEMENTS.

6. ALL AREAS DEPICTED ON THE CONDOMINIUM PLAT AS LIMITED
COMMON ELEMENTS (LCE's) SHALL BE GOVERNED BY THE
TERMS & CONDITIONS OF THE DECLARATION.

7. UNIT AREAS ARE APPROXIMATE AND DO NOT SUPERSEDE UNIT
BOUNDARIES AS SET FORTH IN THE DECLARATION.

8. THIS PARCEL IS SUBJECT TO ALL EASEMENTS & AGREEMENTS,
BOTH RECORDED AND UNRECORDED .

PROPOSED EDGE OF ASPHALT 
PROPOSED BUILDING FOOTPRINT

LIMITED COMMON ELEMENTL.C.E.

12
50

 S
Q.

FT
.

UN
IT

 1

12
50

 S
Q.

FT
.

UN
IT

 2
50

.0
'

50
.0

'

25.0'

25.0' 25.0'

25.0'

L.
C.

E.
UN

IT
 1

L.
C.

E.
UN

IT
 2

50
.0

'

12
50

 S
Q.

FT
.

UN
IT

 3

12
50

 S
Q.

FT
.

UN
IT

 4
50

.0
'

50
.0

'

25.0'

25.0' 25.0'

25.0'

L.
C.

E.
UN

IT
 3

L.
C.

E.
UN

IT
 4

50
.0

'

12
50

 S
Q.

FT
.

UN
IT

 5

12
50

 S
Q.

FT
.

UN
IT

 6
50

.0
'

50
.0

'

25.0'

25.0' 25.0'

25.0'

L.
C.

E.
UN

IT
 5

L.
C.

E.
UN

IT
 6

50
.0

'

12
50

 S
Q.

FT
.

UN
IT

 7

12
50

 S
Q.

FT
.

UN
IT

 8
50

.0
'

50
.0

'

25.0'

25.0' 25.0'

25.0'

L.
C.

E.
UN

IT
 7

L.
C.

E.
UN

IT
 8

50
.0

'

12
50

 S
Q.

FT
.

UN
IT

 9

12
50

 S
Q.

FT
.

UN
IT

 1
0

50
.0

'

50
.0

'

25.0'

25.0' 25.0'

25.0'

L.
C.

E.
UN

IT
 9

L.
C.

E.
UN

IT
 1

0

50
.0

'

12
50

 S
Q.

FT
.

UN
IT

 1
1

12
50

 S
Q.

FT
.

UN
IT

 1
2

50
.0

'

50
.0

'

25.0'

25.0' 25.0'

25.0'

L.
C.

E.
UN

IT
 1

1

L.
C.

E.
UN

IT
 1

2

50
.0

'

1250 SQ.FT.
UNIT 22

1250 SQ.FT.
UNIT 21

50.0'

50.0'

25
.0

'

25
.0

'
25

.0
'

25
.0

'

L.C.E.
UNIT 22

L.C.E.
UNIT 21

50.0'

1250 SQ.FT.
UNIT 20

1250 SQ.FT.
UNIT 19

50.0'

50.0'

25
.0

'

25
.0

'
25

.0
'

25
.0

'

L.C.E.
UNIT 20

L.C.E.
UNIT 19

50.0'

1250 SQ.FT.
UNIT 18

1250 SQ.FT.
UNIT 17

50.0'

50.0'

25
.0

'

25
.0

'
25

.0
'

25
.0

'

L.C.E.
UNIT 18

L.C.E.
UNIT 17

50.0'

1250 SQ.FT.
UNIT 16

1250 SQ.FT.
UNIT 15

50.0'

50.0'

25
.0

'

25
.0

'
25

.0
'

25
.0

'

L.C.E.
UNIT 16

L.C.E.
UNIT 5

50.0'

1250 SQ.FT.
UNIT 14

1250 SQ.FT.
UNIT 13

50.0'

50.0'

25
.0

'

25
.0

'
25

.0
'

25
.0

'
L.C.E.

UNIT 14

L.C.E.
UNIT 13

50.0'

TRUSTEE'S DEED DOCUMENT NO. 2691446
LANDS

E 
FR

O
N

TA
G

E 
R

O
A

D
14

5' 
RIG

HT
-O

F-
W

AY

H
A

G
EM

A
N

N
 R

O
A

D
66

' R
IG

HT
-O

F-
W

AY

7 MILE ROAD
RIGHT-OF-WAY VARIES

WELL HOUSE

LANDS

LANDS
LANDS

( N
 0°

 51
' 0

7"
 E 

)*
( N

 0°
 35

' 3
4"

 W
   1

74
.71

' )
N 

0°
 50

' 3
2"

 E 
    

17
4.5

8'

( N 89° 16' 00" E   194.56' )
S 89° 12' 24" E     194.46'

( N
 1°

 09
' 5

3"
 W

   1
39

.97
' )

N 
0°

 14
' 1

6"
 E 

    
14

0.0
9'

( N 89° 15' 58" E   180.67' )( S 89° 17' 21" E   178.51' )*S 89° 17' 13" E     178.62'

( S 51° 15' 49" E   11.62' )*
( S 37° 45' 49" E   11.62' )

S 50° 52' 07" E     11.68'

S 1
° 2

1' 
04

" W
    

 41
2.6

6'
( S

 0°
 05

' 4
0"

 E 
  4

10
.70

' )
( S

 1°
 21

' 0
0"

 W
 )*

N 89° 07' 47" W     399.77'
( N 89° 24' 00" W   399.93' )

( N
 13

° 0
5' 

14
" E

 )*
( N

 11
° 3

8' 
58

" E
   1

06
.82

' )
N 

13
° 0

5' 
07

" E
    

 10
6.8

8'

S 1
° 2

1' 
04

" W
67

.26
'

( S
 0°

 05
' 4

0"
 W

69
.05

' )

N 
0°

 50
' 3

2"
 E 

 13
2.4

7'
N 45

° 42
' 06

" E 
 10

.38
'

S 89° 17' 13" E  185.66'

( N 89° 16' 00" E )
( S 89° 17' 13" E   2335.80' )S 89° 17' 13" E  2335.74' MON. TO MON.

FOUND 1" IRON PIPE,
UNLESS SIZE NOTED

FOUND PLSS SECTION
MONUMENT TYPE NOTED

NORTH LINE OF NW-1/4

NORTH 1/4 CORNER
SEC. 7-T4N-R22E
FOUND  1-1/4" REBAR
N: 223,384.72
E: 596,793.29

NORTHWEST CORNER
SEC. 7-T4N-R22E

FOUND BRASS CAP MONUMENT
N:  223,413.78
N:  594,457.73

1002.54'
( 1002.80' ) 1333.22'

FOUND 3/4" REBAR 0.05'
SOUTH AND 0.11' EAST OF
LOT CORNER.
FOUND 1" PIPE 0.24' EAST
OF LOT CORNER. 1" PIPE
HELD FOR BEARING OF
SOUTH PROPERTY LINE

( S 13° 05' 14' W )
( S 11° 38' 12" W   124.07' )

S 13° 05' 07" W   124.47'

FOUND 3/4" REBAR 0.14'
SOUTH OF LOT CORNER.

FOUND 3/4" REBAR
0.31' NORTH OF

LOT CORNER.

33'          33'
6 6'

6 6'
33'          33'

60
'60
'

P.O.B.

80' X 150' STORM WATER DRAINAGE
EASEMENT SET FORTH VIA

SEPARATE, FUTURE DOCUMENT

150'

80'

80'
80' WIDE STORM WATER DRAINAGE

EASEMENT SET FORTH VIA
SEPARATE, FUTURE DOCUMENT

OWNERS:
JACOB VOIGT &

ANGELICA AMBROSINI

13505 7 MILE ROAD

OWNER:
HELEN A. PUTIRSKIS

7850 HAGEMANN ROAD

O
W

N
E

R
S:

JE
R

O
M

E
 &

 G
LO

R
IA

LU
E

N
E

BU
R

G
13

23
7 

7 
M

IL
E 

R
O

A
D

O
W

N
E

R
S:

JA
M

E
S 

R
E

V
O

C
. T

R
U

ST
D

A
TE

D
 5

/1
6/

20
14

79
19

 H
A

G
EM

A
N

N
 R

O
A

D

O
W

N
E

R
S:

D
E

BO
R

A
H

 A
. W

IL
LM

S 
TR

U
ST

D
A

TE
D

 JU
N

E
 9

, 2
0

11
79

0
9 

H
A

G
EM

A
N

N
 R

O
A

D

25' X 25' VISION
TRIANGLE

69
.99

'
NO

 A
CC

ES
S,

 P
ER

 D
OC

. N
O.

 2
29

22
03

NO ACCESS

NO HIGHWAY ACCESS

PARCEL
 132,970 SQ. FT.
OR 3.05 ACRES

(    )
(    )*

RECORD DATA PER DEED
DOCUMENT NO. 2691446
RECORD DATA PER
TPP NO. 1035-01-20

PER DOC. NO. 2292204

EASEMENT/RESTRICTION LINE

NO
 A

CC
ES

S
NO

 A
CC

ES
S

NO
 A

CC
ES

S 
TO

 H
AG

EM
AN

N 
RO

AD
 F

OR
 T

HE
 S

UB
JE

CT
 P

AR
CE

L
TO

 B
E 

SE
T 

FO
RT

H 
IN

 T
HE

 C
ON

DO
M

IN
IU

M
 IN

ST
RU

M
EN

TS
NO

 A
CC

ES
S



 

 
Meeting Date:   May 19, 2025     

 

PLAN COMMISSION REPORT 
 

Item No. 5E  

Proposal: Election of Plan Commission Vice President and Secretary 

Description: Per Village Ordinance the Plan Commission will annually elect a vice president and 
secretary. 
 

Applicant(s): Village of Caledonia 

Address(es): 5043 Chester Lane 

Suggested 
Motion: 

No motion is required. 
 

 
Background: Per Village Ordinance the Plan Commission will annually elect from its membership a 
person to be vice president and secretary. The last members who held these positions no longer are on 
the Plan Commission.  
 
The role for each position is not explicitly stated in the ordinance. However, the expectation of the vice 
president is to conduct a Plan Commission meeting when the Plan Commission President is not present. 
The secretary’s role is to review the Plan Commission minutes, which are taken and prepared by the 
Village Clerk, and approve them for review by the Plan Commission at the next meeting. 
 
The process to elect these positions is as follows: 

1. The Plan Commission President opens the nomination process. 
2. Any member can nominate another to a specific position. 
3. A nominated member must accept the nomination. (There can be more than one person 

nominated for the same position.) 
4. When all nominations have been made, the President closes the nomination process. 
5. If more than one person is nominated for a position, the Plan Commission will vote for their 

preferred candidate. 
6. The President will count the votes for each candidate. 
7. The member with the most votes will be elected for the specific position of vice president or 

secretary. 
8. Election Process is complete. 

 
No motion following the election is required. 
 
 
Respectfully submitted: 
 
 
 
Peter Wagner, AICP 
Development Director 

 
 
 

 


	Agenda
	Minutes
	5A - BSO Plan Review Quick Dr
	5B - BSO Plan Review 6922 Nicholson Rd
	5C - Temporary Use 5111 Douglas Ave
	5D - Final Condo Plat StorageShopUSA
	5E - Election of Vice President and Secretary



